# UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS DA SAÚDE DEPARTAMENTO DE ODONTOLOGIA CURSO DE ODONTOLOGIA

Mayara de Castro Miranda

Levantamento epidemiológico de lesões em lábio: estudo retrospectivo

Florianópolis 2022 Mayara de Castro Miranda

Levantamento epidemiológico de lesões em lábio: estudo retrospectivo

Trabalho de Conclusão do Curso de Graduação em Odontologia do Centro de Ciências da Saúde da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina como requisito para a obtenção do título de Cirurgião-Dentista. Orientadora: Prof<sup>a</sup> Elena Riet Correa Rivero, Dra. Coorientadora: Me. Elis Ângela Batistella

Florianópolis 2022

# FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA

Ficha de identificação da obra elaborada pelo autor, através do Programa de Geração Automática da Biblioteca Universitária da UFSC.

Miranda, Mayara de Castro Levantamento epidemiológico de lesões em lábio : estudo retrospectivo / Mayara de Castro Miranda ; orientadora, Elena Riet Correa Rivero, coorientadora, Elis Ângela Batistella, 2022. 55 p.
Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso (graduação) -Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Centro de Ciências da Saúde, Graduação em Odontologia, Florianópolis, 2022. Inclui referências.
1. Odontologia. 2. patologia bucal. 3. odontologia. 4. doenças labiais. 5. carcinoma epidermoide. I. Rivero, Elena Riet Correa. II. Batistella, Elis Ângela. III. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. Graduação em Odontologia. IV. Título. Mayara de Castro Miranda

# Levantamento epidemiológico de lesões em lábio: estudo retrospectivo

Este Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso foi julgado adequado para obtenção do Título de "Cirurgião-Dentista" e aprovado em sua forma final pelo Curso de Odontologia Florianópolis, 29 de Julho de 2022.

> Profa. Gláucia Santos Zimmermann, Dra. Coordenadora do Curso

# **Banca Examinadora:**

Profa. Elena Riet Correa Rivero, Dra. Orientadora Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

Prof. Gilberto De Souza Melo, Dr. Avaliador Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

Profa. Nicole Lonni Nascimento, Me. Avaliadora Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

# AGRADECIMENTOS

A **Deus**, por ter me dado a vida e por me permitir conquistar os meus objetivos e sonhos.

À minha família, em especial aos meus pais, **Pedro Paulo** e **Vanusa**, e meu irmão, **Leonardo**, que sempre me apoiaram, me incentivaram e não mediram esforços para que eu alcançasse os meus objetivos.

À minha dupla e amiga **Pyetra Martinelli**, que sempre esteve ao meu lado, do início ao fim, compartilhando aprendizados e me dando suporte nos desafios encontrados.

Aos amigos que fiz durante a graduação Mariana Zanchetti, Luiz Antonio, Sérgio Murilo, Andreza Meneghel, Ana Paula, Laura Quadros, Leonardo Marcos e Gabriel Rosa.

Aos meus amigos de longa data Lana Rautemberg, Debora Rosa, Helena Tomaz, Matheus Taniguchi e Camila Guarnieri, que me acompanham desde o início da minha trajetória.

Ao meu namorado Cole Banister, pelo incentivo, apoio e conselhos.

À minha orientadora e professora Elena Rivero, por todas as oportunidades e ensinamentos.

À minha coorientadora Elis Batistella, pela paciência ao ensinar e por todos os conselhos.

A todos os **professores** e **profissionais** que me deram oportunidades e contribuíram com a minha formação.

À Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, por ter me proporcionado uma formação pública e de qualidade.

# **RESUMO**

Objetivo: Avaliar a prevalência de lesões em lábio em um serviço de patologia bucal e comparar os resultados com a literatura atual. Métodos: Foi realizada a análise dos laudos histopatológicos de dezembro de 2006 a abril de 2021. Dados referentes ao diagnóstico e as características clínicas dos pacientes e das lesões foram coletados. Além disso, realizou-se uma revisão de literatura nas bases de dados do PubMed, Wiley Online Library, Science Direct e Google Scholar. Resultados: Ao total, 4289 laudos de biópsia orais foram levantados, dos quais 18,8% (808 casos) eram representativos de lesões em lábio. As lesões labiais afetaram predominantemente mulheres (53,1%), leucodermas (75,1%) e indivíduos na sexta década de vida (22,3%). O lábio inferior foi mais frequentemente afetado (74,1%). A hiperplasia fibrosa inflamatória (26,7%) foi a lesão mais prevalente, seguida de mucocele (20,7%), queilite actínica (18,9%) e carcinoma epidermoide (5,7%). Em relação à revisão de literatura, três estudos foram incluídos, nos quais a prevalência de lesões em lábio variou de 4,4% a 16,4%, sendo mucocele a lesão mais prevalente em todos os estudos incluídos. Conclusões: As lesões em lábio apresentaram prevalência expressiva no presente estudo e na literatura mundial. Lesões reativas, distúrbios de glândulas salivares, condições epiteliais e neoplasias malignas foram as lesões mais prevalentes. A elevada prevalência de queilite actínica, condição que pode evoluir para carcinoma epidermoide de lábio, reforça a importância do diagnóstico precoce de lesões em lábio.

**Palavras-chave:** doenças labiais; neoplasias labiais; manifestações bucais; queilite; carcinoma epidermoide.

# ABSTRACT

Objective: To assess the prevalence of lip lesions in a Brazilian Oral Pathology Service and compare results with available literature. Methods: Histopathological records were analyzed from December 2006 to April 2021. Data regarding the diagnosis and clinical information of the patients with lip lesions were collected. A comprehensive literature review for similar studies was performed on PubMed, Wiley Online Library, Science Direct, and Google Scholar. Results: A total of 4289 oral biopsy registries were found, of which 18.8% (808 cases) occurred on the lips. Lip lesions affected predominantly females (53.1%), fair-skinned individuals (75.1%), and prevailed in the sixth decade of life (22.3%). The lower lip was the anatomical site most frequently affected (74.1%). Inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia (26.7%) was the most prevalent lesion, followed by mucocele (20.7%), actinic cheilitis (18.9%), and lip squamous cell carcinoma (5.7%). Regarding the literature review, three studies were included, in which the prevalence of lip lesions ranged from 4.4% to 16.4%, and mucocele was the most predominant lip lesion in all included studies. Conclusions: Lip lesions showed expressive prevalence in this study and in the available literature. Reactive lesions, salivary gland disorders, epithelial conditions, and malignant neoplasms presented higher prevalence among lip lesions. Furthermore, the prominent prevalence of actinic cheilitis, which can evolve to lip squamous cell carcinoma, reinforces the importance of early diagnosis of lip lesions.

**Keywords:** lip diseases; lip neoplasms; oral manifestations; cheilitis; carcinoma, squamous cell.

# LISTA DE TABELAS

literature review (April 16, 2022)."

# LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

- AC Queilite actínica (do inglês, actinic cheilitis)
- AD Doenças autoimunes (do inglês, autoimmune diseases)
- BN Neoplasias benignas (do inglês, benign neoplasms)
- CA Candidíase (do inglês, candidiasis)
- EC Condições epiteliais (do inglês, epithelial conditions)
- HE Hemangioma (do inglês, hemangioma)
- IFH Hiperplasia fibrosa inflamatória (do inglês, inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia)
- ID Doenças infecciosas (do inglês, infectious diseases)
- LPB Laboratório de Patologia Bucal
- LSCC Carcinoma epidermoide de lábio (do inglês, lip squamous cell carcinoma)
- MN Neoplasias malignas (do inglês, malignant neoplasms)
- MU Mucocele (do inglês, mucocele)
- NCI Inflamação crônica não específica (do inglês, nonspecific chronic inflammation)
- PL Lesões pigmentadas (do inglês, pigmented lesions)
- RL Lesões reativas (do inglês, reactive lesions)
- SCP Papiloma (do inglês, squamous cell papilloma)
- SGD Distúrbios de glândulas salivares (do inglês, salivary gland disorders)
- UFSC Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina
- UV Luz ultravioleta (do inglês, ultraviolet light)
- VL Lesões vasculares (do inglês, vascular lesions)

# SUMÁRIO

1	INTRODUÇÃO	11
2	OBJETIVOS	13
2.1	OBJETIVO GERAL	13
2.2	OBJETIVOS ESPECÍFICOS	13
3	ARTIGO PARA SUBMISSÃO	14
4	CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	
	REFERÊNCIAS	
	ANEXO A – ATA DA DEFESA	42
	ANEXO B – NORMAS DA REVISTA	
	ANEXO C - PARECER CONSUBSTANCIADO DO CEP	53

# 1 INTRODUÇÃO

A face possui uma importante contribuição aos indivíduos, conferindo-lhes identidade, beleza, autoestima, confiança e bem-estar psicossocial (BAUDOIN et al., 2019; GHORBANYJAVADPOUR et al., 2019). Devido à sua posição central e proeminência na face, os lábios desempenham um papel marcante nas expressões emocionais e na atratividade (BAUDOIN et al., 2019). Portanto, injúrias no lábio podem afetar a autoestima dos pacientes e as interações sociais devido ao desconforto ou ao comprometimento estético que essas lesões podem causar (BAUDOIN et al., 2019; GHORBANYJAVADPOUR et al., 2019; PATIL et al., 2014).

Uma ampla variedade de doenças com diferentes etiologias pode afetar os lábios (ARSLAN et al., 2015; OSTERNE et al., 2011). Devido à sua posição anatômica na face, o lábio é exposto a diversos fatores ambientais (ARSLAN et al., 2015; BENTLEY et al., 2003). Fatores como a luz ultravioleta (UV), tabagismo e trauma constantemente afetam os lábios e podem atuar na patogênese de doenças labiais (ARSLAN et al., 2015; BENTLEY et al., 2003). A fragilidade da semi-mucosa labial, a qual é desprovida de folículos pilosos e menos ceratinizada em comparação com a pele, contribui para a sua suscetibilidade em desenvolver determinadas lesões (BENTLEY et al., 2003; DANCYGER et al., 2018; PICASCIA et al., 1897).

O conhecimento e a conscientização sobre as doenças labiais são de extrema relevância, pois permitem preveni-las ou realizar um diagnóstico precoce, minimizando as sequelas de tratamentos cirúrgicos ou outras intervenções, por fim, melhorando o prognóstico de várias doenças (ARSLAN et al., 2015; OSTERNE et al., 2011 A correlação dos dados clínicos de pacientes portadores de lesões labiais permite delinear quais grupos de pessoas são suscetíveis a determinadas lesões (ARSLAN et al., 2015; OSTERNE et al., 2011). No entanto, além da avaliação clínica, a análise histopatológica é essencial para realizar um diagnóstico preciso (ARSLAN et al., 2015; OSTERNE et al., 2011).

A disseminação do conhecimento dos fatores de risco para doenças labiais contribui para a conscientização e realização de campanhas preventivas para profissionais de saúde e indivíduos sob risco (ARSLAN et al., 2015; OSTERNE et al., 2011; PATIL et al., 2014). Entretanto, até o presente momento poucos estudos científicos acerca da prevalência de lesões no lábio foram publicados. Portanto, o presente estudo teve como objetivo investigar a prevalência de lesões labiais diagnosticadas histologicamente em um serviço de patologia bucal e comparar os resultados com a literatura atual.

# **2 OBJETIVOS**

# 2.1 OBJETIVO GERAL

Realizar um levantamento epidemiológico retrospectivo das lesões em lábio diagnosticadas pelo Laboratório de Patologia Bucal da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina (LPB-UFSC) no período de dezembro de 2006 a abril de 2021.

# 2.2 OBJETIVOS ESPECÍFICOS

Identificar e avaliar a prevalência dos casos de lesões em lábio diagnosticados pelo LPB-UFSC.

Avaliar as características clínicas das lesões de lábio diagnosticadas no LPB-UFSC e compará-las aos dados clínicos de pacientes (presentes nas fichas de biópsia).

Identificar possíveis hábitos ou fatores de risco associados com o aparecimento das lesões.

Comparar os dados coletados no presente estudo com os dados descritos na literatura.

# 3 ARTIGO PARA SUBMISSÃO

Este trabalho encontra-se nas normas da revista "Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Medicine, and Pathology". Disponível em: https://www.elsevier.com/journals/journal-of-oral-and-maxillofacial-surgery-medicine-and-pathology/2212-5558/guide-for-authors. Acessado em junho de 2022.

# Article type: Original research

Article title: Prevalence of lip lesions: a 14-year retrospective study in Santa Catarina, Brazil

Authors: Mayara de Castro Miranda<sup>a</sup>, Elis Ângela Batistella<sup>b</sup>, Elena Riet Correa Rivero<sup>c\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Graduate Program in Dentistry, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

<sup>b</sup>Postgraduate Program in Dentistry, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

<sup>c</sup>Department of Pathology, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

Conflict of interest: Authors declare no conflict of interest.

**Ethical Approval:** The ethics committee of the authors' institution approved this study (approval number: 42095715.1.0000.0121).

\*Corresponding author: Elena Riet Correa Rivero

Department of Pathology, Health Sciences Center, Federal University of Santa Catarina. University Campus - Trindade, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil. Zipcode: 88040900. E-Mail: riet.elena@gmail.com. Phone number: +55 48 988028784.

# Abstract

**Objective:** To assess the prevalence of lip lesions in a Brazilian Oral Pathology Service and compare results with available literature.

**Methods:** Histopathological records were analyzed from December 2006 to April 2021. Data regarding the diagnosis and clinical information of the patients with lip lesions were collected. A comprehensive literature review for similar studies was performed on PubMed, Wiley Online Library, Science Direct, and Google Scholar.

**Results:** A total of 4289 oral biopsy registries were found, of which 18.8% (808 cases) occurred on the lips. Lip lesions affected predominantly females (53.1%), fair-skinned individuals (75.1%), and prevailed in the sixth decade of life (22.3%). The lower lip was most frequently affected (74.1%) than upper lip. Inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia (26.7%) was the most prevalent lesion, followed by mucocele (20.7%), actinic cheilitis (18.9%), and lip squamous cell carcinoma (5.7%). Regarding the literature review, three studies were included, in which the prevalence of lip lesions ranged from 4.4% to 16.4%, and mucocele was the most predominant lip lesion in all included studies.

**Conclusions:** Lip lesions showed expressive prevalence in this study and in the available literature. Reactive lesions, salivary gland disorders, epithelial conditions, and malignant neoplasms presented higher prevalence amid lip lesions. Furthermore, the prominent prevalence of actinic cheilitis, which can evolve to lip squamous cell carcinoma, reinforces the importance of early diagnosis of lip lesions.

Keywords: lip diseases; lip neoplasms; oral manifestations; cheilitis.

# **1. Introduction**

The face has a major contribution to the aesthetic of individuals, providing identity, self-esteem, confidence, and psychosocial well-being [1,2]. Due to their central position and prominence in the face, the lips play an important role in emotional expressions and attractiveness [1]. Thus, lips injuries might affect patients' self-esteem and social interactions due to discomfort or because of the aesthetic defect these lesions can lead to [1-3].

A wide range of diseases with distinct origins may affect the lips [4,5]. Due to the anatomical position in the face, lips are expose to several environmental factors [4,6]. Ultraviolet light (UV), tobacco, drugs, and trauma, constantly affect the lips and may act on the pathogenesis of lip diseases [4,6]. The fragility of the lip semi-mucosa, which is devoid of hair follicles and less keratinized in relation to the skin, contributes to its susceptibility to certain lesions [6–8].

Knowledge and awareness about lip diseases are important for the development of preventive measures and can aid clinicians towards an early diagnosis, minimizing the sequelae of surgical treatments or other interventions, ultimately improving the prognosis of several diseases [4,5]. The correlation of clinical data of patients with labial lesions provides guidance concerning the identification of groups of people that are susceptible to specific types of lesions [4,5]. Nevertheless, correlation of clinical characteristics with histopathological features is essential for a definitive diagnosis [4,5]. Disseminating knowledge about risk factors for lip diseases contributes to raise awareness and send preventative messages to health professionals and individuals at risk [3–5]. However, only a few studies with data regarding the prevalence of lip lesions have been published to date.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the prevalence of lip lesions histologically diagnosed in an oral pathology service and compare the results with current literature.

# 2. Materials and methods

## 2.1 Main study

Biopsy and histopathological records from the Oral Pathology Laboratory of the Federal University of Santa Catarina were screened for lips lesions cases. Data were collected from December 2006 to April 2021. Clinical data consisted of patients' sex and age, ethnicity, clinical and histopathological diagnostic, anatomical location, and habits or risk factors. Lip

diseases were grouped as: reactive lesions, salivary gland disorders, infectious diseases, pigmented lesions, autoimmune diseases, benign neoplasms, epithelial conditions, malignant neoplasms, and others (Table 1). Ethnicity was categorized as fair-skinned for Caucasians, dark-skinned for Black individuals, and others. The ethics committee of the authors' institution approved this study (approval number: 42095715.1.0000.0121). The anonymity of participants was assured as recommended by the Helsinki Declaration. Statistical analyses were performed using the software SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive characteristics of patients and lesions were expressed by means of absolute and relative frequencies.

# 2.2 Literature review

A comprehensive review of the literature was performed to assess studies that investigated the prevalence of lip lesions. Observational studies written in English that estimated the prevalence of lesions located in the lip were eligible for inclusion. The following exclusion criteria was applied: 1) studies that did not report the histological diagnosis; 2) studies not published in English; 3) studies with no data for lip lesions; 4) full-text not available; and 5) studies in which the lip lesions sample was smaller than 100 cases.

Electronic search strategies were developed and adapted for each of the following bibliographic databases: PubMed, Wiley Online Library, Science Direct, and Google Scholar. All searches were conducted on April 16, 2022. A reference manager (EndNote X7, Thomson Reuters) was used to collect references and remove duplicates. A two-phase process was performed in the selection of studies. In phase-1, titles and abstracts were screened for potentially eligible studies. In phase-2, a full-text read was performed and studies that met eligibility criteria were included. Author, year of publication, country, sample size, number of lip lesions, gender, diagnostic categories, and predominant lip lesions, according to main study classification were collected from included studies.

## 3. Results

### 3.1 Main study

A total of 4289 cases were identified, of which 808 (18.8%) cases were lip diseases. From cases of lip lesions, females (53.1%) and fair-skinned individuals (75.1%) were predominantly affected. The mean age was  $43.6 \pm 19.0$  years, ranging from 1 to 87 years, and 22.3% of the lip lesions affected patients in their 6<sup>th</sup> decade of life. The main anatomical site was the lower lip (74.1%). Trauma (19.8%), followed by smoking (14.2%) and sun exposure (5.2%) were the most frequent risk factors reported.

Most lip lesions consisted of reactive lesions (29.7%), followed by salivary gland disorders (24.9%), and epithelial conditions (19.2%). Among the labial manifestations, fibroma, also known as inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia (IFH), was the most prevalent lesion (26.7%), followed by mucocele (MU) (20.7%), actinic cheilitis (AC) (18.9%), and lip squamous cell carcinoma (LSCC) (5.7%).

IFHs manifested mostly in females (74.1%) and fair-skinned patients (74.5%). IFH affected mainly adults in their 6<sup>th</sup> decade of life (31.9%), followed by the 7<sup>th</sup> (4.1%) and the 5<sup>th</sup> decade of life (20.8%). The predominant site of IFH presentation was the lower lip (56.5%). A history of traumatic injuries was reported in 43.9% of the IFH cases.

Mucocele affected similarly males (52.1%) and females (47.9%). A preponderance of fair-skinned was observed within mucocele patients (67.7%), with a higher prevalence observed in young patients aging between the  $3^{rd}$  (31.7%) and the  $2^{nd}$  (28.1%) decades of life. The anatomical site most affected by mucocele cases was the lower lip (96.4%). The most reported risk factor was lip trauma (12.6%); however, in 80.2% of mucocele cases, the habits or potential risk factors were not informed.

Actinic cheilitis affected mostly males (67.3%), fair-skinned patients (84.3%), aging between 40 and 69 years old (approximately 75%). The majority of actinic cheilitis cases (84.3%) affected the lower lip. Smoking (28.1%) and sun exposure (20.3%) were the most reported risk factors for actinic cheilitis, however in 25.5% of the records the habit was not reported.

LSCC affected mostly males (78.3%). Most cases in which patients' ethnicity was reported occurred in fair-skinned individuals (80.4%), but in 19.6% of the records the ethnicity was not informed. Individuals in their 7<sup>th</sup> (32.6%) and 6<sup>th</sup> (23.9%) decades of life had the greatest LSCC prevalence. The lower lip was the most prevalent site of LSCC presentation (97.8%). Smoking (26.1%) and sun exposure (15.2%) were the most prevalent risk factors in patients with LSCC, although information regarding habits or risk factors was not reported in 17.4% of the LSCC cases.

Distribution of cases according to the histopathological diagnosis and sex, ethnicity, age group, and location is shown in Tables 1-3.

# 3.2 Literature review

The search strategy in electronic databases resulted in 3320 studies. In phase 1, after title and abstract reading, 76 studies were considered eligible for full-text reading. In phase 2, three studies met the inclusion criteria and were included for data synthesis, available in Table 4. All studies were conducted in Brazil [5,9,10] and were published between 2011 [5] and 2020 [9]. Biopsy registries were retrieved from a single oral pathology laboratory in the studies of Curra et al [10] and Barros et al [9]. The study of Osterne et al [5] consisted of a multicenter study conducted obtaining data from both medical and oral pathology laboratories. The prevalence of lip lesions was similar between males and females in all studies, with a slightly higher prevalence of females observed in the studies of Curra et al [10] and Barros et al [10] found a predominance of fair-skinned individuals in the sample and the studies of Osterne et al [5] and Barros et al [9] did not report data regarding ethnicity.

The total sample of oral biopsy registries consisted of 5511 records in the study of Barros et al [9], 26920 records in the study of Curra et al [10], and 6231 records in the study of Osterne et al [5]. The prevalence of lip lesions ranged from 4.4% (n= 1193) [10] to 16.4% (n= 1021) [5] in the included studies. Salivary gland disorders were the most prevalent group in two of the included studies [5,10]. In the study of Barros et al [9], however, the group of epithelial conditions was the most prevalent, followed by salivary gland disorders. The group of reactive lesions was the second most predominant in the studies of Curra et al [10] and Osterne et al [5]. Mucocele was the lip lesion most reported in all included studies [5,9,10] and the prevalence of this lesion ranged from 25.0% [9] to 38.0% [10]. In the studies of Curra et al [10] and Osterne et al [5] IFH was the second lesion most predominant. The prevalence of IFH ranged from 8.9% [9] to 25.8% [5] in the included studies. The actinic cheilitis and lip squamous cell carcinoma also showed high prevalence in the studies and the actinic cheilitis was the second lesion most prevalence of LSCC ranged from 2.7% [9] to 10.4% [5] in the included studies.

## 4. Discussion

Lips are the preferred site of manifestation for several diseases. However, only a few large-scale studies estimating the prevalence of lip lesions with similar methodology have been published to date [5,9,10]. The present study revealed a prevalence of lip diseases of 18.8%, which is higher than that described in the studies of Osterne et al [5] (16.4% in 6231 patients), Barros et al [9] (10.7% from 5511 cases), and Curra et al [10] (4.4% in 26920 cases). The study of Curra et al [10] revealed a discrepancy in the total sample and in the prevalence of lip lesions compared to the main study. The main study presented the higher prevalence of lip lesions and the smaller total sample, while the study of Curra et al [10] reported the smaller prevalence of lip lesions and the smaller total sample, while the study of Curra et al [10] reported the smaller prevalence of lip lesions and the higher total sample. Both studies presented similar methodology, being conducted in a single oral pathology service in the south of Brazil. The other studies [5,9,10] from the literature review showed similar results with the main study. The study of Osterne et al [5] was the only multicenter study in the literature review and showed the second larger total sample, revealing similar prevalence of lip lesions with the main study.

The slightly higher prevalence of females in this study corroborates with previous literature [9,10]. Additionally, the present work found a preponderance of patients with lip lesions being diagnosed between 50 and 59 years (22.3%), consistent with the results of Osterne et al [5]. A higher prevalence of cases involving the lower lip (74.1%) was found, in accordance with prior studies, possibly due to the high risk for traumatic injuries in this location [5,9,10].

The most frequent lesions in this research were IFHs (26.7%), mucocele (20.7%), actinic cheilitis (18.9%), and LSCC (5.7%). Previous studies by Barros et al [9] (25.0%), Curra et al [10] (37.9%), and Osterne et al [5] (28.4%) found that mucocele was the most prevalent lip lesion in their studies. The contrast of data found in this analysis can be owing to differences in the ethnicity of the sample, geographical variations, study design, and diagnostic criteria [3,11].

Reactive lesions can develop because of chronic irritation to oral mucosa [12]. Thereby, the prevalence of IFH in older patients observed in this study could potentially be related to trauma caused by ill-fitting oral prosthesis or due to chronic mucosal injury from active edges of dental remnants, or habit of nibbling the lip mucosa [13].

Oral mucoceles are caused by trauma of a minor salivary gland duct which leads to extravasation of mucus into surrounding tissues, forming a clinically visible bulla or vesicle [3,9,14,15]. Mucocele was equally distributed by gender, with a slight predominance in males (52.1%), corroborating with prior works [11,16]. However, other studies reported a slightly higher prevalence of mucocele cases in females [4,5,9,10,17]. In agreement with most of the

studies reviewed, mucocele prevailed in younger patients [4,5,17]. The lower lip was the anatomical site most affected (96.4%), which is frequently related in the literature as the preferential site for mucoceles [4,5,10,16,18]. This might be related to the greater prevalence of parafunctional habits in the lower lip, the higher number of salivary glands compared to the upper lip, and the increased susceptibility to traumatic injuries mainly in children [19,20].

Actinic cheilitis is a potentially malignant disorder [7,21]. Both actinic cheilitis (67.3%) and LSCC (78.3%) mostly affected males, in accordance with previous studies [4,5,9,10,16,18,21–31]. This could be related to the greater number of men in outdoors activities with chronic sun exposure and the higher propensity of women to use lip protective agents against sources of UV radiation, such as sunlight [7,14,32]. A prevalence of 84.3% of actinic cheilitis and 80.4% of LSCC in fair-skinned patients was observed in this work, corroborating previously literature [21]. Due to their lower quantity of melanin pigmentation, fair-skinned individuals are more susceptible to the development of actinic cheilitis and LSCC, since UV radiation is the primary etiological factor to these diseases [7,21]. Most of actinic cheilitis and LSCC cases occurred in older subjects [5,16,21,23,25–31,33]. This higher prevalence amid the older individuals could be related to several factors, including accumulation of UV damage across life, age-related immunosuppression, and diagnosis delay due to the slow disease course [7,22].

The lower lip was the most affected site for actinic cheilitis and LSCC, in accordance with previous studies [4,5,10,16,18,21,23–31]. The preferred manifestation in this site occurs because the lower lip is more affected by the sunlight than the upper lip due to its everted position and prominence in the face, which is reached with ease due to the angle of UV rays' incidence [6,7,32]. In addition, the lower lip presents a thinner epithelium when compared to the skin, being more prone to UV-related injuries for their low amount of keratin covering and reduced secretion from sebaceous and sweat glands [6–8]. Consistent with previous reports [21,24,26,28,30], this study revealed a notable prevalence of actinic cheilitis and LSCC in individuals with habit of smoking (28.1% and 26.1%, respectively) and sun exposure (20.3% and 15.2%, respectively). Nevertheless, the association between smoking and development of actinic cheilitis and LSCC remains unclear [32,34,35]. Some authors suggest that cigarette smoking might have a role in the preferential occurrence of actinic cheilitis in the lower lip, specifically in the right side, because smokers hold cigarettes mostly in the right side of the lip, as most individuals are right-handed [24,35]. Also, lips are directly exposed to the

carcinogens of tobacco, which may therefore contribute to the AC and LSCC pathogenesis [32,34,35].

Actinic cheilitis is preventable by reducing sun exposure periods, applying lip sunscreen, and wearing wide-brimmed hat whenever being exposed to sun light [8]. It is crucial to raise awareness about actinic cheilitis and its progression to LSCC, especially for groups at increased risk such as farm workers, fishermen, and street vendors [9,36]. Some researchers reported a rate of 95% of LSCC arising as a progression of actinic cheilitis [21]. The malignant transformation to LSCC is considered slow, with some studies reporting a time period from 1 to 30 years [7,14]. The differential clinical diagnosis between actinic cheilitis and early LSCC stages is challenging, since the clinical appearance of LSCC in initial stages can resemble actinic cheilitis [6,34].

Due to the nature of this study design, some limitations are present. In this context, it was not possible to assess the prognosis and recurrence rates after treatment as there was no information regarding follow-up of patients. Moreover, it is important to notice that approximately 84.0% of Santa Catarina's population are fair-skinned, whereas the average of fair-skinned population in Brazil is 47.7% [37]. Therefore, the prevalence of lip lesions in the present study cannot be inferred to other states or countries since it might not reflect the socioeconomic context of other populations [9,38].

# 5. Conclusions

Lip diseases had an elevated prevalence among other oral pathologies in the main study. Reactive lesions and salivary gland disorders were the prevailing among all cases, along with epithelial conditions, and malignant neoplasms in the present study. Lip diseases affected mostly the lower lip of fair-skinned patients in the main study. These data were similar to findings from the literature review. It is important to emphasize that elderly males, fair-skinned, with habits of chronic sun exposure and smoking were the most affected patients by actinic cheilitis and LSCC. The knowledge provided by this analysis can contribute to the prevention and early diagnosis of lip lesions.

# References

- Baudoin J, Meuli JN, di Summa PG, Watfa W, Raffoul W. A comprehensive guide to upper lip aesthetic rejuvenation. Journal of Cosmetic Dermatology 2019;18:444–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocd.12881.
- [2] Ghorbanyjavadpour F, Rakhshan V. Factors associated with the beauty of soft-tissue profile. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 2019;155:832–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2018.07.020.
- [3] Patil S, Maheshwari S. Prevalence of lip lesions in an Indian population. J Clin Exp Dent 2014;6:e374-8. https://doi.org/10.4317/jced.51597.
- [4] Arslan S, Çobanołlu B, Ural A, Saylin I, Işik AU. A 15-year retrospective study of 160 cases of benign lip lesions. Journal of Laryngology and Otology 2015;129:1224–7. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022215115002923.
- [5] Osterne RLV, Costa FWG, Mota MRL, Vidal Patrocínio RMS, Alves APNN, Soares ECS, et al. Lip lesions in a Brazilian population. Journal of Craniofacial Surgery 2011;22:2421–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/SCS.0b013e318232a7dc.
- [6] Bentley JM, Barankin B, Lauzon GJ. Paying more than lip service to lip lesions. Canadian Family Physician 2003;49:1111–6.
- [7] Dancyger A, Heard V, Huang B, Suley C, Tang D, Ariyawardana A. Malignant transformation of actinic cheilitis: A systematic review of observational studies. Journal of Investigative and Clinical Dentistry 2018;9:e12343. https://doi.org/10.1111/jicd.12343.
- [8] Picascia DD, Robinson JK. Actinie cheilitis: A review of the etiology, differential diagnosis, and treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 1987;17:255–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(87)70201-1.
- [9] Barros CC, Medeiros CK, Rolim LS, Cavalcante IL, Santos PP, Silveira ÉJ, et al. A retrospective 11-year study on lip lesions attended at an oral diagnostic service. Medicina Oral Patología Oral y Cirugia Bucal 2020:e370–4. https://doi.org/10.4317/medoral.23390.
- [10] CURRA M, SALVADORI G, JUNGES R, FILHO MS, HUGO FN, MARTINS MD. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis for the identification of potentially malignant disorders and malignant lip lesions. Brazilian Oral Research 2016;30. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-3107bor-2016.vol30.0135.

- [11] Bansal S, Shaikh S, Desai R, Ahmad I, Puri P, Prasad P, et al. Spectrum of lip lesions in a tertiary care hospital: An epidemiological study of 3009 indian patients. Indian Dermatology Online Journal 2017;8:115. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-5178.202280.
- [12] Babu B, Hallikeri K. Reactive lesions of oral cavity: A retrospective study of 659 cases. J Indian Soc Periodontol n.d.;21:258–63. https://doi.org/10.4103/jisp.jisp\_103\_17.
- [13] Dutra KL, Longo L, Grando LJ, Rivero ERC. Incidence of reactive hyperplastic lesions in the oral cavity: a 10 year retrospective study in Santa Catarina, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Otorhinolaryngology 2019;85:399–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjorl.2018.03.006.
- [14] Greenberg SA, Schlosser BJ, Mirowski GW. Diseases of the lips. Clinics in Dermatology 2017;35:e1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2017.11.003.
- [15] Yamasoba T, Tayama N, Syoji M, Fukuta M. Clinicostatistical study of lower lip mucoceles. Head & Neck 1990;12:316–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/hed.2880120407.
- [16] Fomete B, Agbara R, Adebayo E, Adeola D. Lip lesions: A 10-year retrospective analysis from a Nigerian tertiary healthcare institution. Sub-Saharan African Journal of Medicine 2018;5:123. https://doi.org/10.4103/ssajm.ssajm\_3\_18.
- [17] Taweevisit M, Tantidolthanes W, Keelawat S, Thorner PS. Paediatric oral pathology in Thailand: a 15-year retrospective review from a medical teaching hospital. International Dental Journal 2018;68:227–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/idj.12380.
- [18] Ntomouchtsis A, Karakinaris G, Poulolpoulos A, Kechagias N, Kittikidou K, Tsompanidou C, et al. Benign lip lesions. A 10-year retrospective study. Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2010;14:115–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10006-009-0196-y.
- [19] Bett JVS, Batistella EÂ, Melo G, Munhoz E de A, Silva CAB, Guerra EN da S, et al. Prevalence of oral mucosal disorders during pregnancy: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine 2019;48:270–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/jop.12831.
- [20] Chi AC, Lambert PR, Richardson MS, Neville BW. Oral Mucoceles: A Clinicopathologic Review of 1,824 Cases, Including Unusual Variants. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2011;69:1086–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2010.02.052.
- [21] Silva LV de O, de Arruda JAA, Abreu LG, Ferreira RC, da Silva LP, Pelissari C, et al. Demographic and Clinicopathologic Features of Actinic Cheilitis and Lip Squamous Cell Carcinoma: a Brazilian Multicentre Study. Head and Neck Pathology 2020;14:899–908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12105-020-01142-2.

- [22] Abreu L, Kruger E, Tennant M. Lip cancer in Western Australia, 1982-2006: a 25-year retrospective epidemiological study. Australian Dental Journal 2009;54:130–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1834-7819.2009.01105.x.
- [23] Kaugars GE, Pillion T, Svirsky JA, Page DG, Burns JC, Abbey LM. Actinic cheilitis: a review of 152 cases. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1999;88:181–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1079-2104(99)70115-0.
- [24] Markopoulos A, Albanidou-Farmaki E, Kayavis I. Actinic cheilitis: clinical and pathologic characteristics in 65 cases. Oral Dis 2004;10:212–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-0825.2004.01004.x.
- [25] Antoniades DZ, Styanidis K, Papanayotou P, Trigonidis G. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lips in a northern Greek population. Evaluation of prognostic factors on 5-year survival rate-- I. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 1995;31B:333–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0964-1955(95)00030- 5.
- [26] Biasoli ÉR, Valente VB, Mantovan B, Collado FU, Neto SC, Sundefeld MLMM, et al. Lip Cancer: A Clinicopathological Study and Treatment Outcomes in a 25-Year Experience. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;74:1360–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2016.01.041.
- [27] Cerezo L, Liu FF, Tsang R, Payne D. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip: analysis of the Princess Margaret Hospital experience. Radiother Oncol 1993;28:142–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8140(93)90006-t.
- [28] Gutiérrez-Pascual M, Vicente-Martín FJ, Fernández-Álvarez JG, Martín-López R, Pinedo-Moraleda F, López-Estebaranz JL. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip. A retrospective study of 146 patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2012;26:1116–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2011.04227.x.
- [29] Han AY, Kuan EC, Mallen-St Clair J, Alonso JE, Arshi A, St John MA. Epidemiology of Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Lip in the United States: A Population-Based Cohort Analysis. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016;142:1216–23. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2016.3455.
- [30] Souza R-L, Fonseca-Fonseca T, Oliveira-Santos C-C, Corrêa G-T-B, Santos F-B-G, Cardoso C-M, et al. Lip squamous cell carcinoma in a Brazilian population: epidemiological study and clinicopathological associations. Medicina Oral, Patologia Oral y Cirugia Bucal 2011;16:e757-62. https://doi.org/10.4317/medoral.16954.

- [31] Veness MJ, Ong C, Cakir B, Morgan G. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip. Patterns of relapse and outcome: Reporting the Westmead Hospital experience, 1980-1997. Australas Radiol 2001;45:195–9. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1673.2001.00902.x.
- [32] Rodríguez-Blanco I, Flórez Á, Paredes-Suárez C, Rodríguez-Lojo R, González-Vilas D, Ramírez-Santos A, et al. Actinic Cheilitis Prevalence and Risk Factors: A Cross-sectional, Multicentre Study in a Population Aged 45 Years and Over in North-west Spain. Acta Dermato Venereologica 2018;98:970–4. https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-3014.
- [33] Czerninski R, Zini A, Sgan-Cohen HD. Lip cancer: incidence, trends, histology and survival: 1970-2006. British Journal of Dermatology 2010;162:1103–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09698.x.
- [34] Mello F, Melo G, Modolo F, Rivero E. Actinic cheilitis and lip squamous cell carcinoma: Literature review and new data from Brazil. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Dentistry 2019:0–0. https://doi.org/10.4317/jced.55133.
- [35] Lopes MLD de S, Silva Júnior FL da, Lima KC, Oliveira PT de, Silveira ÉJD da. Clinicopathological profile and management of 161 cases of actinic cheilitis. Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia 2015;90:505–12. https://doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20153848.
- [36] Vieira RAMAR, Minicucci EM, Marques MEA, Marques SA. Actinic cheilitis and squamous cell carcinoma of the lip: clinical, histopathological and immunogenetic aspects. Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia 2012;87:105–14. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0365-05962012000100013.
- [37] CENSO DEMOGRÁFICO 2010. Características da população e dos domicílios: resultados do universo 2011.
- [38] Tominaga K, Kamimura K, Takahashi K, Yokoyama J, Terai S. A case of Behçet's disease with various gastrointestinal findings. Clinical Journal of Gastroenterology 2018;11:354–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12328-018-0860-6.

# Tables

Table 1. Distribution of lip lesions diagnosed at the Oral Pathology Laboratory, UFSC, Brazil, from 2006 to 2021, according to the histopathological diagnosis and sex reported.

	Sex						
Histopathological Diagnosis	Female	Male	Total				
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)				
Reactive lesions	178 (74.0%)	62 (26.0%)	240 (100%)				
Fibroma/IFH	160 (74.1%)	56 (25.9%)	216 (100%)				
Oral pyogenic granuloma	16 (80.0%)	4 (20.0%)	20 (100%)				
Giant cell fibroma	2 (50.0%)	2 (50.0%)	4 (100%)				
Salivary gland disorders	93 (46.3%)	108 (53.7%)	201 (100%)				
Mucocele	80 (47.9%)	87 (52.1%)	167 (100%)				
Sialadenitis	8 (33.3%)	16 (66.7%)	24 (100%)				
Sialolithiasis	1 (33.3%)	2 (66.7%)	3 (100%)				
Mucous retention cyst	2 (40.0%)	3 (60.0%)	5 (100%)				
Inverted ductal papilloma	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)				
Sialadenoma papilliferum	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)				
Epithelial conditions	50 (32.7%)	105 (67.7%)	155 (100%)				
Actinic cheilitis	50 (32.7%)	65 (80.2%)	81 (100%)				
Keratoacanthoma	(0.0%)	2 (100%)	2 (100%)				
Malignant neoplasms	12 (23.5%)	39 (76.5%)	51 (100%)				
Lip squamous cell carcinoma	10 (21.7%)	36 (78.3%)	46 (100%)				
Large cell lymphoid neoplasia	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)				
Verrucous carcinoma	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)				
Rhabdomyosarcoma	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)				
Adenoid cystic carcinoma	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)				
Salivary gland secretory carcinoma	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)				
Infectious diseases	22 (50.0%)	22 (50.0%)	44 (100%)				
Squamous cell papilloma	8 (40.0%)	12 (60.0%)	20 (100%)				
Condyloma acuminata	4 (66.7%)	2 (33.3%)	6 (100%)				
Verruca vulgaris	4 (66.7%)	2 (33.3%)	6 (100%)				
Candidiasis	1 (33.3%)	2 (66.7%)	3 (100%)				
Paracoccidioidomycosis	1 (25.0%)	3 (75.0%)	4 (100%)				
Syphilis	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)				
Heck's disease	4 (100%)	(0.0%)	4 (100%)				

## Table 1. (continued)

		Sex		
Histopathological Diagnosis	Female	Male	Total	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Benign neoplasms	17 (53.1%)	15 (46.9%)	32 (100%)	
Hemangioma	6 (50.0%)	6 (50.0%)	12 (100%)	
Pleomorphic adenoma	4 (80.0%)	1 (20.0%)	5 (100%)	
Fibrolipoma	2 (100%)	(0.0%)	2 (100%)	
Lipoma	1 (50.0%)	1 (50.0%)	2 (100%)	
Neuroma	1 (33.3%)	2 (66.7%)	3 (100%)	
Angioleiomyoma	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)	
Lymphangioma	(0.0%)	2 (100%)	2 (100%)	
Neurilemmoma	1 (50.0%)	1 (50.0%)	2 (100%)	
Neurofibroma	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)	
Basal cell adenoma	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	
Canalicular adenoma	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	
Autoimmune diseases	18 (90.0%)	2 (10.0%)	20 (100%)	
Sjögren's syndrome	14 (87.5%)	2 (12.5%)	16 (100%)	
Lichen planus	3 (100%)	(0.0%)	3 (100%)	
Pemphigus vulgaris	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	
Pigmented lesions	10 (83.3%)	2 (16.7%)	12 (100%)	
Melanotic macule	7 (77.8%)	2 (22.2%)	9 (100%)	
Nevus	2 (100%)	(0.0%)	2 (100%)	
Amalgam tattoo	1 (100%)	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	
Other	29 (54.7%)	24 (45.3%)	53 (100%)	
Nonspecific chronic inflammation	16 (50.0%)	16 (50.0%)	32 (100%)	
Epidermoid cyst	(0.0%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)	
Other*	13 (65.0%)	7 (35.0%)	20 (100%)	
Total	429 (53.1%)	379 (46.9%)	808 (100%)	

Legend: IFH= Inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia; n= number of patients; UFSC= Federal University of Santa Catarina. \*Other= Chronic interface mucositis (n= 4); Fistula (n= 2); Granulation tissue (n= 2); Hemorrhagic areas (n= 1); Normal nervous tissue (n= 1); Normal salivary glands (n= 3); Ossifying fibromyxoid tumor (non-ossifying variant) (n= 1); Reactive lymphoid hyperplasia (n= 1); Thrombus (n= 4); Xanthoma cell proliferation (n= 1). \* UFSC= Federal University of Santa Catarina. Source: Data collected from patients' records from the Oral Pathology Laboratory — UFSC, Brazil.

		Ethnici	ty				Loc	ation		
Histopathological Diagnosis	Fair-skinned	Dark-skinned	Others	NI	Lower lip	Upper lip	Commissure	Upper and lower lip	NI	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Reactive lesions	177 (73.8%)	15 (6.2%)	10 (4.2%)	38 (15.8%)	140 (58.3%)	53 (22.1%)	29 (12.1%)	0 (0.0%)	18 (7.5%)	240 (100%)
Salivary gland	141 (70.1%)	16 (8.0%)	7 (3.5%)	38 (18.9%)	187 (93.0%)	11 (5.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (1.5%)	201 (100%)
disorders										
Epithelial	131 (84,5%)	1 (0.6%)	4 (2.6%)	19 (12.3%)	131 (84.5%)	10 (6.5%)	10 (6.5%)	0(0.0%)	4 (2.6%)	155 (100%)
conditions	101 (01070)	- (0.070)	(,)					- (010,0)	(,	
Malignant	40 (78 40/)	(0,00)	(0, 00/)	10(10.60)	46 (00 20/)	2(5.00/)	0 (0 09/ )	0 (0 00()	2(2,00/)	51 (1000())
neoplasms	40 (78.4%)	(0.0%)	(0.0%)	10 (19.0%)	40 (90.2%)	3 (3.9%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.9%)	51 (100%)
Infectious diseases	32 (72.7%)	5 (11.4%)	5 (11.4%)	2 (4.5%)	17 (38.6%)	12 (27.3%)	14 (31.8%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (2.3%)	44 (100%)
Benign neoplasms	23 (77.9%)	4 (12.5%)	2 (6.3%)	3 (9.4%)	20 (62.5%)	12 (37.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	32 (100%)
Autoimmune	12 (65 00()	2 (10 00)	1 (5.00())	4 (20.00())	15 (75.00())	2 (15 00()	0 (0 00()	0 (0 00()	0 (10 00())	20 (100%)
diseases	13 (65.0%)	2 (10.0%)	1 (5.0%)	4 (20.0%)	15 (75.0%)	3 (15.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (10.0%)	20 (100%)
Pigmented lesions	10 (83.3%)	(0.0%)	(0.0%)	2 (16.7%)	8 (66.7%)	4 (33.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	12 (100%)
Other	40 (75.5%)	4 (7.5%)	2 (3.8%)	7 (13.2%)	35 (66.0%)	13 (24.5%)	3 (5.7%)	1 (1.9%)	1 (1.9%)	53 (100%)
Total	607 (75.1%)	47 (5.8%)	31 (3.8%)	123 (15.2%)	599 (74.1%)	120 (14.9%)	56 (6.9%)	1 (0.1%)	32 (4.0%)	808 (100%)

Table 2. Distribution of individuals diagnosed at the Oral Pathology Laboratory, UFSC, Brazil, from 2006 to 2021, according to histopathological diagnosis, ethnicity, and location.

Legend: n= number of patients; NI= not informed; UFSC= Federal University of Santa Catarina. Source: Data collected from patients' records from the Oral Pathology Laboratory UFSC. Brazil.

	Age group	s									
Histopathological Diagnosis	0-9	10-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	70-79	80-89	NI	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Reactive lesions	3 (1.3%)	11 (4.6%)	7 (2.9%)	20 (8.3%)	45 (18.8%)	75 (31.3%)	54 (22.5%)	11 (4.6%)	3 (1.2%)	11 (4.6%)	240 (100%)
Salivary gland disorders	24 (11.9%)	50 (24.9%)	58 (28.9%)	32 (15.9%)	14 (7.0%)	10 (5.0%)	7 (3.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (3.0%)	201 (100%)
Epithelial conditions	1 (0.6%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (3.9%)	12 (7.7%)	33 (21.3%)	50 (32.3%)	33 (21.3%)	14 (9.0%)	1 (0.6%)	5 (3.2%)	155 (100%)
Malignant neoplasms	1 (2.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.9%)	2 (3.9%)	5 (9.8%)	12 (23.5%)	15 (29.4%)	7 (13.7%)	1 (2.0%)	6 (11.8%)	51 (100%)
Infectious diseases	4 (9.1%)	7 (15.9%)	6 (13.6%)	7 (15.9%)	9 (20.5%)	5 (11.4%)	4 (9.1%)	2 (4.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	44 (100%)
Benign neoplasms	2 (6.3%)	2 (6.3%)	4 (12.5%)	7 (21.9%)	5 (15.6%)	7 (21.9%)	3 (9.4%)	2 (6.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	32 (100%)
Autoimmune diseases	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (10.0%)	1 (5.0%)	6 (30.0%)	7 (35.0%)	4 (20.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	20 (100%)
Pigmented lesions	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (25.0%)	1 (8.3%)	2 (16.7%)	2 (16.7%)	3 (25.0%)	1 (8.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	12 (100%)
Other	4 (7.5%)	7 (13.2%)	7 (13.2%)	5 (9.4%)	7 (13.2%)	12 (22.6%)	6 (11.3%)	3 (5.7%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.8%)	53 (100%)
Total	39 (4.8%)	77 ( <b>9.5%</b> )	95 (11.8%)	87 (10.8%)	126 (15.6%)	180 (22.3%)	129 (16.0%)	40 (5.0%)	5 (0.6%)	30 (3.7%)	808 (100%)

Table 3. Distribution of individuals diagnosed at the Oral Pathology Laboratory, UFSC, Brazil, from 2006 to 2021, according to the histopathological diagnosis and age group.

Legend: n= number of patients; NI= not informed; UFSC= Federal University of Santa Catarina. Source: Data collected from patients' records from the Oral Pathology Laboratory — UFSC, Brazil.

Author, year; country	Total sample/n of lip lesions (%)	Gender (n/%)	Diagnostic categories* (n/%)	Predominant lip lesions* (n/%)
Main study, 2021; Brazil	4289/808 (18.8%)	F (429/53.1%)	AD (20/2.5%)	AC (153/18.9%)
		M (379/46.9%)	BN (32/4.0%)	FIFH (216/26.7%)
			ID (44/5.4%)	LSCC (46/5.7%)
			MN (51/6.3%)	MU (167/20.7%)
			EC (155/19.2%)	NCI (32/4.0%)
			Other (53/6.6%)	
			PL (12/1.5%)	
			RL (240/29.7%)	
			SGD (201/24.9%)	
Barros, 2020; Brazil	5511/587 (10.7%)	F (306/52.1%)	AD (35/6.0%)	AC (136/23.2%)
		M (281/47.9%)	BN (11/1.9%)	CA (25/4.3%)
			ID (65/11.1%)	FIFH (52/8.9%)
			MN (17/2.9%)	LSCC (16/2.7%)
			EC (152/25.9%)	MU (147/25.0%)
			Other (72/12.3%)	VL (51/8.7%)
			PL (25/4.3%)	
			RL (62/10.6%)	
			SGD (148/25.2%)	

Table 4. Descriptive characteristics and main findings of included articles from literature review (April 16, 2022).

# Table 4. (continued)

Author, year; country	Total sample/n of lip lesions (%)	Gender (n/%)	Diagnostic categories* (n/%)	Predominant lip lesions* (n/%)
Curra, 2016; Brazil	26920/1193 (4.4%)	F (631/52.9%)	AD (9/0.8%)	AC (135/11.3%)
		M (562/47.1%)	BN (73/6.1%)	FIFH (282/23.6%)
			ID (71/6.0%)	LSCC (47/3.9%)
			MN (53/4.4%)	MU (453/38.0%)
			EC (141/11.8%)	SCP (51/4.3%)
			Other (45/3.8%)	
			PL (15/1.3%)	
			RL (321/26.9%)	
			SGD (465/39.0%)	
Osterne, 2011; Brazil	6231/1021 (16.4%)	F (510/50.0%)	AD (26/2.5%)	AC (98/9.6%)
		M (511/50.0%)	BN (123/12.0%)	FIFH (263/25.8%)
			ID (49/4.8%)	HE (101/9.9%)
			MN (112/11.0%)	LSCC (106/10.4%)
			EC (100/9.8%)	MU (294/28.8%)
			PL (24/2.4%)	
			RL (293/28.7%)	
			SGD (294/28.8%)	

Legend: \*= according to main study classification; AC= Actinic cheilitis; AD= Autoimmune diseases; BN= Benign neoplasms; CA= Candidiasis; EC= Epithelial conditions; FIFH= Fibroma/Inflammatory fibrous hyperplasia; HE= Hemangioma; ID= Infectious diseases; LSCC= Lip squamous cell carcinoma; MN= Malignant neoplasms; MU= Mucocele; n= number of cases; NCI= Nonspecific chronic inflammation; PL= Pigmented lesions; RL= Reactive lesions; SCP= Squamous cell papilloma; SGD= Salivary gland disorders; VL= Vascular lesions.

# **4 CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS**

As doenças labiais apresentaram elevada prevalência entre as patologias orais no presente estudo. Lesões reativas e distúrbios de glândulas salivares predominaram entre todos os casos no estudo principal. A condições epiteliais e as neoplasias malignas também mostraram alta prevalência no presente estudo. As lesões em lábio acometeram principalmente o lábio inferior e indivíduos leucodermas no estudo principal. Os resultados encontrados no presente estudo foram similares aos resultados encontrados na revisão de literatura. É importante ressaltar que homens mais velhos, leucodermas, com hábito de exposição solar crônica e tabagismo foram os pacientes mais afetados pela queilite actínica e pelo carcinoma epidermoide de lábio. O conhecimento fornecido por este estudo pode contribuir para a prevenção e diagnóstico precoce de lesões em lábio.

# REFERÊNCIAS

ABREU, L; KRUGER, E; TENNANT, M. Lip cancer in Western Australia, 1982-2006: a 25year retrospective epidemiological study. **Australian Dental Journal**, [S.L.], v. 54, n. 2, p. 130-135, jun. 2009. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1834-7819.2009.01105.x.

ANTONIADES, D.Z.; STYANIDIS, K.; PAPANAYOTOU, P.; TRIGONIDIS, G. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lips in a northern Greek population. Evaluation of prognostic factors on 5-year survival rate—I. **European Journal Of Cancer Part B: Oral Oncology**, [S.L.], v. 31, n. 5, p. 333-339, jan. 1995. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0964-1955(95)00030-5.

ARSLAN, S; ÇOBANOğLU, B; A URAL,; SAYğIN, İ; IşIK, A Ü. A 15-year retrospective study of 160 cases of benign lip lesions. **The Journal Of Laryngology & Otology**, [S.L.], v. 129, n. 12, p. 1224-1227, dez. 2015. Cambridge University Press (CUP). http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s0022215115002923.

BABU, Biji; HALLIKERI, Kaveri. Reactive lesions of oral cavity: a retrospective study of 659 cases. **J Indian Soc Periodontol**, [S.I.], v. 21, n. 4, p. 258-263, Jan. 2018.

BANSAL, Shivani; SHAIKH, Sana; DESAI, Rajiv s; AHMAD, Islam; PURI, Pavan; PRASAD, Pooja; SHIRSAT, Pankaj; GUNDRE, Dipali. Spectrum of Lip Lesions in a Tertiary Care Hospital: an epidemiological study of 3009 indian patients. **Indian Dermatol Online J**, [S.I.], v. 8, n. 2, p. 115-119, Mar. 2017. DOI: 10.4103/2229-5178.202280.

BARROS, Caio César da Silva; MEDEIROS, Cristianne Kalinne Santos; ROLIM, Larissa Santos Amaral; CAVALCANTE, Israel Leal; SANTOS, Pedro Paulo de Andrade; SILVEIRA, Éricka Janine Dantas da; OLIVEIRA, Patrícia Teixeira de. A retrospective 11-year study on lip lesions attended at an oral diagnostic service. **Medicina Oral Patología Oral y Cirugia Bucal**, [S.L.], v. 25, n. 3, p. 370-374, May 2020. Medicina Oral, S.L.. http://dx.doi.org/10.4317/medoral.23390.

BAUDOIN, Julien; MEULI, Joachim N.; SUMMA, Pietro G. di; WATFA, William; RAFFOUL, Wassim. A comprehensive guide to upper lip aesthetic rejuvenation. Journal Of

**Cosmetic Dermatology**, [S.L.], v. 18, n. 2, p. 444-450, 12 mar. 2019. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jocd.12881.

BENTLEY, Janna M; BARANKIN, Benjamin; LAUZON, Gilles J. Paying more than lip service to lip lesions. **Can Fam Physician**, [S.I.], v. 49, n. 9, p. 1111-1116, sep. 2003.

BETT, João Victor Silva; BATISTELLA, Elis Ângela; MELO, Gilberto; MUNHOZ, Etiene de Andrade; SILVA, Carolina Amália Barcellos; GUERRA, Eliete Neves da Silva; PORPORATTI, André Luís; CANTO, Graziela de Luca. Prevalence of oral mucosal disorders during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. **J Oral Pathol Med**, [S.I.], v. 48, n. 4, p. 270-277, Apr. 2019. DOI: 10.1111/jop.12831.

BIASOLI, Éder Ricardo; VALENTE, Vitor Bonetti; MANTOVAN, Bruna; COLLADO, Francisco Urbano; CONRADO NETO, Sebastião; SUNDEFELD, Maria Lúcia Marçal Mazza; MIYAHARA, Glauco Issamu; BERNABÉ, Daniel Galera. Lip Cancer: a clinicopathological study and treatment outcomes in a 25-year experience. Journal Of Oral And Maxillofacial Surgery, [S.L.], v. 74, n. 7, p. 1360-1367, July 2016. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2016.01.041.

CENSO DEMOGRÁFICO 2010. Características da população e dos domicílios: resultados do universo. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE, 2011. Disponível em: https://biblioteca.ibge.gov.br/visualizacao/periodicos/93/cd\_2010\_caracteristicas\_populacao\_ domicilios.pdf. [Acessado em 22 de maio de 2020].

CEREZO, L.; LIU, F.-F.; TSANG, R.; PAYNE, D.. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip: analysis of the princess margaret hospital experience. **Radiotherapy And Oncology**, [S.L.], v. 28, n. 2, p. 142-147, ago. 1993. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0167-8140(93)90006-t.

CHI, Angela C.; LAMBERT, Paul R.; RICHARDSON, Mary S.; NEVILLE, Brad W. Oral Mucoceles: a clinicopathologic review of 1,824 cases, including unusual variants. **Journal Of** 

**Oral And Maxillofacial Surgery**, [S.L.], v. 69, n. 4, p. 1086-1093, abr. 2011. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2010.02.052.

CURRA, Marina; SALVADORI, Gabriela; JUNGES, Roger; SANT'ANA FILHO, Manoel; HUGO, Fernando Neves; MARTINS, Manoela Domingues. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis for the identification of potentially malignant disorders and malignant lip lesions. **Brazilian Oral Research**, [S.L.], v. 30, n. 1, 2016. FapUNIFESP (SciELO). http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1807-3107bor-2016.vol30.0135.

CZERNINSKI, R.; ZINI, A.; SGAN-COHEN, H.D.. Lip cancer: incidence, trends, histology and survival: 1970-2006. **British Journal Of Dermatology**, [S.I.], v. 162, n. 5, p. 1103-1109, May 2010. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09698.x.

DANCYGER, Alex; HEARD, Victoria; HUANG, Baikai; SULEY, Cameron; TANG, Dorothy; ARIYAWARDANA, Anura. Malignant transformation of actinic cheilitis: a systematic review of observational studies. **Journal Of Investigative And Clinical Dentistry**, [S.L.], v. 9, n. 4, 4 jun. 2018. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jicd.12343.

DUTRA, Kamile Leonardi; LONGO, Lunardo; GRANDO, Liliane Janete; RIVERO, Elena Riet Correa. Incidence of reactive hyperplastic lesions in the oral cavity: a 10 year retrospective study in santa catarina, brazil. **Brazilian Journal Of Otorhinolaryngology**, [S.L.], v. 85, n. 4, p. 399-407, jul. 2019. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjorl.2018.03.006.

FOMETE, Benjamin; AGBARA, Rowland; ADEBAYO, Ezekielt; ADEOLA, Daviss. Lip lesions: a 10-year retrospective analysis from a nigerian tertiary healthcare institution. **Sub-Saharan African Journal Of Medicine**, [S.L.], v. 5, n. 4, p. 123-128, 2018. Medknow. http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/ssajm.ssajm\_3\_18.

GHORBANYJAVADPOUR, Fataneh; RAKHSHAN, Vahid. Factors associated with the beauty of soft-tissue profile. **American Journal Of Orthodontics And Dentofacial Orthopedics**, [S.L.], v. 155, n. 6, p. 832-843, jun. 2019. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2018.07.020.

GREENBERG, Sophie A.; SCHLOSSER, Bethanee J.; MIROWSKI, Ginat W.. Diseases of the lips. **Clinics In Dermatology**, [S.L.], v. 35, n. 5, p. 1-14, sep. 2017. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2017.11.003.

GUTIÉRREZ-PASCUAL, M.; VICENTE-MARTÍN, F.J.; FERNÁNDEZ-ÁLVAREZ, J.G.; MARTÍN-LÓPEZ, R.; PINEDO-MORALEDA, F.; LÓPEZ-ESTEBARANZ, J.L.. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip. A retrospective study of 146 patients. **Journal Of The European Academy Of Dermatology And Venereology**, [S.L.], v. 26, n. 9, p. 1116-1121, 19 set. 2011. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2011.04227.x.

HAN, Albert Y.; KUAN, Edward C.; CLAIR, Jon Mallen-St; ALONSO, Jose E.; ARSHI, Armin; JOHN, Maie A. St. Epidemiology of Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Lip in the United States. Jama Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery, [S.L.], v. 142, n. 12, p. 1216-1223, 1 dec. 2016. American Medical Association (AMA). http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2016.3455.

KAUGARS, George E.; PILLION, Todd; SVIRSKY, John A.; PAGE, Dennis G.; BURNS, James C.; ABBEY, Louis M.. Actinic cheilitis: a review of 152 cases. **Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, And Endodontology**, [S.L.], v. 88, n. 2, p. 181-186, Aug. 1999. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s1079-2104(99)70115-0.

LOPES, Maria Luiza Diniz de Sousa; SILVA JÚNIOR, Francisco Leonardo da; LIMA, Kenio Costa; OLIVEIRA, Patrícia Teixeira de; SILVEIRA, Éricka Janine Dantas da. Clinicopathological profile and management of 161 cases of actinic cheilitis. **Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia**, [S.L.], v. 90, n. 4, p. 505-512, Aug. 2015. FapUNIFESP (SciELO). http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20153848.

MARKOPOULOS, A; ALBANIDOU-FARMAKI, E; KAYAVIS, I. Actinic cheilitis: clinical and pathologic characteristics in 65 cases. **Oral Diseases**, [S.L.], v. 10, n. 4, p. 212-216, July 2004. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-0825.2004.01004.x.

MELLO, FW; MELO, G; MODOLO, F; RIVERO, ERC. Actinic cheilitis and lip squamous cell carcinoma: literature review and new data from Brazil. **Journal of Clinical And Experimental Dentistry**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 1, p. 62-69, Jan. 2019. Medicina Oral, S.L. http://dx.doi.org/10.4317/jced.55133.

NTOMOUCHTSIS, Aris; KARAKINARIS, George; POULOLPOULOS, Athanasios; KECHAGIAS, Nikos; KITTIKIDOU, Kyriaki; TSOMPANIDOU, Chrysoula; VAHTSEVANOS, Konstantinos; ANTONIADES, Konstantinos. Benign lip lesions. A 10year retrospective study. **Oral And Maxillofacial Surgery**, [S.L.], v. 14, n. 2, p. 115-118, 29 Jan. 2010. Springer Science and Business Media LLC. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10006-009-0196-y.

OSTERNE, Rafael Lima Verde; COSTA, Fábio Wildson Gurgel; MOTA, Mário Rogério Lima; PATROCÍNIO, Régia Maria Socorro Vidal; ALVES, Ana Paula Negreiros Nunes; SOARES, Eduardo Costa Studart; SOUSA, Fabrício Bitu. Lip Lesions in a Brazilian Population. Journal Of Craniofacial Surgery, [S.L.], v. 22, n. 6, p. 2421-2425, Nov. 2011. Ovid Technologies (Wolters Kluwer Health). http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/scs.0b013e318232a7dc.

PATIL, S; MAHESHWARI, S. Prevalence of lip lesions in an Indian population. **Journal Of Clinical And Experimental Dentistry**, [S.L.], v. 6, n. 4, p. 374-378, Oct. 2014. Medicina Oral, S.L.. http://dx.doi.org/10.4317/jced.51597.

PICASCIA, David D.; ROBINSON, June K.. Actinie cheilitis: a review of the etiology, differential diagnosis, and treatment. **Journal Of The American Academy Of Dermatology**, [S.L.], v. 17, n. 2, p. 255-264, Aug. 1987. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0190-9622(87)70201-1.

RODRÍGUEZ-BLANCO, I; FLÓREZ, Á; PAREDES-SUÁREZ, C; RODRÍGUEZ-LOJO, R; GONZÁLEZ-VILAS, D; A RAMÍREZ-SANTOS,; PARADELA, S; CONDE, I; PEREIRO-FERREIRÓS, M. Actinic Cheilitis Prevalence and Risk Factors: a cross-sectional, multicentre study in a population aged 45 years and over in north-west spain. **Acta Dermato** 

Venereologica, [S.L.], v. 98, n. 10, p. 970-974, Nov. 2018. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. http://dx.doi.org/10.2340/00015555-3014.

SILVA, Leni Verônica de Oliveira; ARRUDA, José Alcides Almeida de; ABREU, Lucas Guimarães; FERREIRA, Raquel Conceição; SILVA, Leorik Pereira da; PELISSARI, Cibele; SILVA, Ricardo Natã Fonseca; NÓBREGA, Kaio Heide Sampaio; ANDRADE, Bruno Augusto Benevenuto de; ROMAÑACH, Mario José. Demographic and Clinicopathologic Features of Actinic Cheilitis and Lip Squamous Cell Carcinoma: a brazilian multicentre study. **Head And Neck Pathology**, [S.L.], v. 14, n. 4, p. 899-908, 19 Feb. 2020. Springer Science and Business Media LLC. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12105-020-01142-2.

SOUZA, LR.; FONSECA, T.F.; SANTOS, C.C.O.; CORREA, GTB.; SANTOS, FBG.; CARDOSO, CM.; HAIKAL, D.S.; GUIMARÃES, ALS.; PAULA, AMB. Lip squamous cell carcinoma in a Brazilian population: epidemiological study and clinicopathological associations. **Medicina Oral Patología Oral y Cirugia Bucal**, [S.L.], p. 757-762, Sep. 2011. Medicina Oral, S.L.. http://dx.doi.org/10.4317/medoral.16954.

TAWEEVISIT, Mana; TANTIDOLTHANES, Warisa; KEELAWAT, Somboon; THORNER, Paul Scott. Paediatric oral pathology in Thailand: a 15-year retrospective review from a medical teaching hospital. **International Dental Journal**, [S.L.], v. 68, n. 4, p. 227-234, Aug. 2018. Elsevier BV. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/idj.12380.

TOMINAGA, Kentaro; KAMIMURA, Kenya; TAKAHASHI, Kazuya; YOKOYAMA, Junji; TERAI, Shuji. A case of Behçet's disease with various gastrointestinal findings. **Clinical Journal of Gastroenterology**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 5, p. 354-358, 17 Apr. 2018. Springer Science and Business Media LLC. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12328-018-0860-6.

VENESS, Michael J; ONG, Colin; CAKIR, Burcu; MORGAN, Gary. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lip. Patterns of relapse and outcome: reporting the westmead hospital experience, 1980-1997. **Australasian Radiology**, [S.L.], v. 45, n. 2, p. 195-199, May 2001. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1673.2001.00902.x.

VIEIRA, Renata Aparecida Martinez Antunes Ribeiro; MINICUCCI, Eliana Maria; MARQUES, Mariangela Esther Alencar; MARQUES, Silvio Alencar. Actinic cheilitis and squamous cell carcinoma of the lip: clinical, histopathological and immunogenetic aspects. **Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia**, [S.L.], v. 87, n. 1, p. 105-114, Feb. 2012. FapUNIFESP (SciELO). http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/s0365-05962012000100013.

YAMASOBA, Tatsuya; TAYAMA, Nirou; SYOJI, Minoru; FUKUTA, Masahiro. Clinicostatistical study of lower lip mucoceles. **Head & Neck**, [S.L.], v. 12, n. 4, p. 316-320, July 1990. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hed.2880120407.

# ANEXO A – ATA DA DEFESA



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA CENTRO DE CIENCIAS DA SAÚDE CURSO DE ODONTOLOGIA DISCIPLINA DE TRABALHO DE CONCLUSÃO DE CURSO DE ODONTOLOGIA

#### ATA DE APRESENTAÇÃO DO TRABALHO DE CONCLUSÃO DE CURSO

Aos vinte e nove dias do mês de junho de 2022, às quatorze horas, em sessão pública de forma remota online, via plataforma RNP (Rede Nacional de Ensino e Pesquisa), pelo serviço *Conferênciaweb* desta Universidade, na presença da Banca Examinadora presidida pela Professora Dra Elena Riet Correa Rivero e pelos examinadores:

- 1 Gilberto De Souza Melo,
- 2 Nicole Lonni Nascimento,

a aluna Mayara de Castro Miranda apresentou o Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso de Graduação intitulado: "Levantamento epidemiológico de lesões em lábio: estudo retrospectivo" como requisito curricular indispensável à aprovação na Disciplina de Defesa do TCC e a integralização do Curso de Graduação em Odontologia. A Banca Examinadora, após reunião em sessão reservada, deliberou e decidiu pela APROVAÇÃO do referido Trabalho de Conclusão do Curso, divulgando o resultado formalmente ao aluno e aos demais presentes, e eu, na qualidade de presidente da Banca, lavrei a presente ata que será assinada por mim, pelos demais componentes da Banca Examinadora e pelo aluno orientando.

da banca Examinadora e	pelo alun	lo onemando.		Decomento assinado digitalmente Elena Hilet Comea Risero Deta 29/06/2022 35:00 20:000 OFF: 081.000.006-03 Verifique as assinatanas en Maps.//www.br
Presidente da Banca Examir		Decamento assinado dig Gilberto de Souza Meio Dete: 29/06/2020 35:55:0 CPI: 888.179.049-60 Verifique as assinatanos (	italmente 5-0900 em https://wurbsc.b	r
Examinador 1	R	Decumento assinado NICOLE LONIN INAGO Dato 29/06/2022 25:4 CPT: BitL655.039-34 Verifique as assinator	figitalmente MENTO 5:81-0000 as em https://wwb	ielar
Examinador 2		Decumento assinado d Mayata de Castro Minar Oste 29/06/2022 30:31: CPF: 304:046:033-38 Verifique as assinatore	igitalmente sta 41-0300 s em https://www.	àr
Aluno				

# ANEXO B – NORMAS DA REVISTA

#### **GUIDE FOR AUTHORS**

#### INTRODUCTION

Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Medicine, and Pathology is the official journal of the Asian Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, the Asian Society of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, and the Japanese Society of Oral Pathology, as well as the official English-language journal of the Japanese Society of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, the Japanese Society of Oral Medicine, and the Japanese Academy of Maxillofacial Implants,

The Journal publishes scientific research related to oral and maxillofacial surgery, medicine, and pathology and covers a wide scope of oral and maxillofacial sciences, including oral oncology, oral radiology, and oral biology.

We welcome papers not only from Asia, but also from all regions throughout the world.

#### Types of paper

The Journal publishes original research papers, clinical observations, review articles, viewpoints, commentaries, technical notes, case reports, book reviews, and letters to the editor in subjects relating to clinical practice and research into oral and maxillofacial surgery, medicine, and pathology,

#### Submission checklist

You can use this list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review, Please check the relevant section in this Guide for Authors for more details,

#### Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address
- Full postal address

All necessary files have been uploaded: Manuscript:

- Include keywords
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- · Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Indicate clearly if color should be used for any figures in print
- Graphical Abstracts / Highlights files (where applicable)

Supplemental files (where applicable)

Further considerations

- · Manuscript has been 'spell checked' and 'grammar checked'
- · All references mentioned in the Reference List are cited in the text, and vice versa

 Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

 A competing interests statement is provided, even if the authors have no competing interests to declare

- Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed
- · Referee suggestions and contact details provided, based on journal requirements

For further information, visit our Support Center,

#### **BEFORE YOU BEGIN**

#### Ethics in publishing

Please see our information on Ethics in publishing.

#### Studies in humans and animals

If the work involves the use of human subjects, the author should ensure that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. The manuscript should be in line with the

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals and aim for the inclusion of representative human populations (sex, age and ethnicity) as per those recommendations. The terms sex and gender should be used correctly.

Authors should include a statement in the manuscript that informed consent was obtained for experimentation with human subjects. The privacy rights of human subjects must always be observed.

All animal experiments should comply with the ARRIVE guidelines and should be carried out in accordance with the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and associated guidelines, EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments, or the National Research Council's Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and the authors should clearly indicate in the manuscript that such guidelines have been followed. The sex of animals must be indicated, and where appropriate, the influence (or association) of sex on the results of the study.

#### Conflict of interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential conflicts of interest include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/ registrations, and grants or other funding. See also https://www.elsevier.com/conflictsofinterest. Further information and an example of a Conflict of Interest form can be found at: https://service.elsevier.com/app/answers/detail/a\_id/286/supporthub/publishing.

Declare the instances of conflict of interest or its nonexistence just before the References section, and if present, the Acknowledgement section.

#### Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright-holder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service Crossref Similarity Check.

#### Preprints

Please note that preprints can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's sharing policy. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information).

#### Use of inclusive language

Inclusive language acknowledges diversity, conveys respect to all people, is sensitive to differences, and promotes equal opportunities. Content should make no assumptions about the beliefs or commitments of any reader; contain nothing which might imply that one individual is superior to another on the grounds of age, gender, race, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation, disability or health condition; and use inclusive language throughout, Authors should ensure that writing is free from blas, stereotypes, slang, reference to dominant culture and/or cultural assumptions. We advise to seek gender neutrality by using plural nouns ("dinicians, patients/clients") as default/wherever possible to avoid using "he, she," or "he/she," We recommend avoiding the use of descriptors that refer to personal attributes such as age, gender, race, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation, disability or health condition unless they are relevant and valid. When coding terminology is used, we recommend to avoid offensive or exclusionary terms such as "master", "slave", "blacklist" and "whitelist". We suggest using alternatives that are more appropriate and (self-) explanatory such as "primary", "secondary", "blocklist" and "allowlist". These guidelines are meant as a point of reference to help identify appropriate language but are by no means exhaustive or definitive.

#### Authorship

All authors should have made substantial contributions to all of the following: (1) the conception and design of the study, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data, (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, (3) final approval of the version to be submitted.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

#### Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors **before** submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only **before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors **after** the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

#### Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see more information on this). An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has preprinted forms for use by authors in these cases,

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'License Agreement' (more information), Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of user license,

#### Author rights

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. More information.

Elsevier supports responsible sharing

Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

#### Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement, it is recommended to state this.

#### Open access

Please visit our Open Access page for more information,

#### Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the English Language Editing service available from Elsevier's Author Services.

#### Informed consent and patient details

Studies on patients or volunteers require ethics committee approval and informed consent, which should be documented in the paper. Appropriate consents, permissions and releases must be obtained where an author wishes to include case details or other personal information or images of patients and any other individuals in an Elsevier publication. Written consents must be retained by the author and copies of the consents or evidence that such consents have been obtained must be provided to Elsevier on request. For more information, please review the *Elsevier Policy on the Use of Images or Personal Information of Patients or other Individuals*, https://www.elsevier.com/patient-consent-policy. Unless

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

you have written permission from the patient (or, where applicable, the next of kin), the personal details of any patient included in any part of the article and in any supplementary materials (including all illustrations and videos) must be removed before submission.

Document all relevant ethics committee approval and informed consent obtained in the Ethical Approval section following the Conclusion section.

#### Submission

Our online submission system guides you stepwise through the process of entering your article details and uploading your files. The system converts your article files to a single PDF file used in the peer-review process. Editable files (e.g., Word, LaTeX) are required to typeset your article for final publication. All correspondence, including notification of the Editor's decision and requests for revision, is sent by e-mail.

 Submit your article
 Your
 article
 via

 Please
 submit
 your
 article
 via

 https://www.editorialmanager.com/jomsmp/default.aspx?pg=mainpage.html
 via

#### Suggesting reviewers

Please submit the names and institutional e-mail addresses of several potential reviewers.

You should not suggest reviewers who are colleagues, or who have co-authored or collaborated with you during the last three years. Editors do not invite reviewers who have potential competing interests with the authors. Further, in order to provide a broad and balanced assessment of the work, and ensure scientific rigor, please suggest diverse candidate reviewers who are located in different countries/ regions from the author group. Also consider other diversity attributes e.g. gender, race and ethnicity, career stage, etc. Finally, you should not include existing members of the journal's editorial team, of whom the journal are already aware.

Note: the editor decides whether or not to invite your suggested reviewers.

#### PREPARATION

#### Please download forms required for submitting manuscripts.

- Presubmission check list: download
- Patient consent form for adult: download
- · Patient consent form for minors: download
- Disclaimer form: download

#### Peer review

This journal operates a double anonymized review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision regarding acceptance or rejection of articles. The Editor's decision is final. Editors are not involved in decisions about papers which they have written themselves or have been written by family members or colleagues or which relate to products or services in which the editor has an interest. Any such submission is subject to all of the journal's usual procedures, with peer review handled independently of the relevant editor and their research groups. More information on types of peer review.

#### Double anonymized review

This journal uses double anonymized review, which means the identities of the authors are concealed from the reviewers, and vice versa. More information is available on our website. To facilitate this, please include the following separately:

Title page (with author details): This should include the title, authors' names, affiliations, acknowledgements and any Declaration of Interest statement, and a complete address for the corresponding author including an e-mail address.

Anonymized manuscript (no author details): The main body of the paper (including the references, figures, tables and any acknowledgements) should not include any identifying information, such as the authors' names or affiliations.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

#### Use of word processing software

It is important that the file be saved in the native format of the wordprocessor used. Format the text using 12-point size of Times or Times New Roman font. All paragraph modes are set flush left at 25 lines per page on A4-size paper, leaving 25mm margins on all sides. Keep the layout of the text as simple as possible. Most formatting codes will be removed and replaced on processing the article. In particular, do not use the wordprocessor's options to justify text or to hyphenate words. However, do use bold face, italics, subscripts, superscripts etc. When preparing tables, if you are using a table grid, use only one grid for each individual table and not a grid for each row. If no grid is used, use tabs, not spaces, to align columns. The electronic text should be prepared in a way very similar to that of conventional manuscripts (see also the Guide to Publishing with Elsevier: https://www.elsevier.com/guidepublication). Note that source files of figures, tables and text graphics will be required whether or not you embed your figures in the text. See also the section on Electronic artwork.

To avoid unnecessary errors you are strongly advised to use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your wordprocessor.

#### Article structure

#### Subdivision - numbered sections

Divide your article into clearly defined and numbered sections. Subsections should be numbered 1.1 (then 1.1.1, 1.1.2, ...), 1.2, etc. (the abstract is not included in section numbering). Use this numbering also for internal cross-referencing: do not just refer to 'the text'. Any subsection may be given a brief heading. Each heading should appear on its own separate line.

#### Introduction

State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

#### Methods

Provide sufficient detail to allow the work to be reproduced. Methods already published should be indicated by a reference: only relevant modifications should be described.

#### Results

Results should be clear and concise.

#### Discussion This should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them. Avoid extensive citations and discussion of published literature.

Conclusions

The main conclusions of the study should be presented in a short Conclusions section.

#### Appendices

If there is more than one appendix, they should be identified as A, B, etc. Formulae and equations in appendices should be given separate numbering: Eq. (A.1), Eq. (A.2), etc.; in a subsequent appendix, Eq. (B.1) and so on. Similarly for tables and figures: Table A.1; Fig. A.1, etc.

For case reports, divide your article into the following sections: Introduction, Case report, and Discussion.

#### Essential title-page information

 Titles. Concise and informative, Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems, Avoid abbreviations and formulas where possible,

Author names and affiliations. List all author names without professional degrees (M,D,, Ph,D,, etc.). Where the family name may be ambiguous (e.g., a double name), please indicate this clearly. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lowercase superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the e-mail address of every author.

 Corresponding author. Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also during postpublication. Ensure that telephone and fax numbers (with country and area codes) are provided in addition to the e-mail address and the complete postal address. Contact details must be kept up-to-date by the corresponding author.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

Present/Permanent address. If an author has moved since the work described in the article
was done, or if the author was visiting at that time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address')
may be indicated as a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did
the work must be retained as the main affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for
such footnotes.

#### Save the title page file separately from the manuscript file. The manuscript file should start from the abstract section and should contain no author-identifiable parts.

#### Abstract

A concise and factual abstract is required (no more than 250 words). It should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results, and the major conclusions in either a structured format (for original research papers, clinical observations, review articles, and technical notes), or a nonstructured format (for case reports). A structured abstract should consist of four sections: Objective, Methods, Results, and Conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if they are essential, cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, avoid nonstandard and uncommon abbreviations. Essential abbreviations, however, must be defined at their first mention in the abstract.

#### Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 5 keywords, using British spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, "and", "of"). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes. Viewpoints, commentaries, book reviews and letters to the editor do not require keywords.

#### Abbreviations

Define abbreviations that are not standard in this field in a footnote to be placed on the first page of the article. Such abbreviations that are unavoidable in the abstract must be defined at their first mention there, as well as in the footnote. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the article.

#### Acknowledgements

Collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references and do not, therefore, include them on the title page, as a footnote to the title or otherwise. List here those individuals who provided help during the research (e.g., providing language help, writing assistance or proofreading the article, etc.).

#### Nomenclature and units

Follow internationally accepted rules and conventions: use the international system of units (SI). If other quantities are mentioned, give their equivalent in SI. You are urged to consult IUB: Biochemical Nomenclature and Related Documents for further information.

#### Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors can build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Otherwise, please indicate the position of footnotes in the text and list the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article. Do not include footnotes in the Reference list.

#### Artwork

#### Image manipulation

Whilst it is accepted that authors sometimes need to manipulate images for clarity, manipulation for purposes of deception or fraud will be seen as scientific ethical abuse and will be dealt with accordingly. For graphical images, this journal is applying the following policy: no specific feature within an image may be enhanced, obscured, moved, removed, or introduced. Adjustments of brightness, contrast, or color balance are acceptable if and as long as they do not obscure or eliminate any information present in the original. Nonlinear adjustments (e.g. changes to gamma settings) must be disclosed in the figure legend.

#### Electronic artwork

General points

- · Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.
- · Save text in illustrations as 'graphics' or enclose the font.
- . Use only the following fonts in your illustrations: Arial, Courier, Times, Symbol.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

 For labeling in a multipanel figure, use an uppercase letter (A, B, C, etc.) of sans-serif bold font in the upper left corner of each panel.

- · Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.
- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
- Provide captions to illustrations separately.
- Produce images near to the desired size of the printed version.
- Submit each figure as a separate file.

A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available on our website:

https://www.elsevier.com/artworkinstructions

#### You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here. Formats

Regardless of the application used, when your electronic artwork is finalised, please 'save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below):

EPS: Vector drawings, Embed the font or save the text as 'graphics',

TIFF (or JPG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones): always use a minimum of 300 dpi,

TIFF (or JPG): Bitmapped line drawings: use a minimum of 1000 dpi,

TIFF (or JPG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale): a minimum of 500 dpi is required,

If your electronic artwork is created in a Microsoft Office application (Word, PowerPoint, Excel) then please supply 'as is'.

#### Please do not:

Supply files that are optimised for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); the resolution is too low;
 Supply files that are too low in resolution;

· Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

#### Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF), or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in color in the printed version. For color reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from Elsevier after receipt of your accepted article. Please indicate your preference for color: in print or online only. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

#### Figure captions

Ensure that each illustration has a caption. Supply captions separately, not attached to the figure. A caption should comprise a brief title (**not** on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

#### Tables

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

#### References

#### Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Any references cited in the abstract must be given in full. Unpublished results and personal communications are not recommended in the reference list, but may be mentioned in the text. If these references are included in the reference list they should follow the standard reference style of the journal and should include a substitution of the publication date with either "Unpublished results" or "Personal communication". Citation of a reference as "in press" implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

#### Web references

As a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates, reference to a source publication, etc.), should also be given. Web references can be listed separately (e.g., after the reference list) under a different heading if desired, or can be included in the reference list.

#### Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

#### Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley. Using citation plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide. If you use reference management software, please ensure that you remove all field codes before submitting the electronic manuscript. More information on how to remove field codes from different reference management software.

#### Reference style

Text: Indicate references by number(s) in square brackets in line with the text. The actual authors can be referred to, but the reference number(s) must always be given.

List: Number the references (numbers in square brackets) in the list in the order in which they appear in the text,

Examples:

Reference to a journal publication:

 Van der Geer J, Hanraads JAJ, Lupton RA, The art of writing a scientific article, J Sci Commun 2000;163:51–9.

[dataset] [2] Oguro M, Imahiro S, Saito S, Nakashizuka T, Mortality data for Japanese oak wilt disease and surrounding forest compositions, Mendeley Data, v1; 2015, http://dx.doi.org/10.17632/ xwj98nb39r,1,

Reference to a book:

[3] Strunk Jr W, White EB. The elements of style. 3rd ed. New York: Macmillan; 1979.

Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

[4] Mettam GR, Adams LB. How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In: Jones BS, Smith RZ, editors. Introduction to the electronic age. New York: E-Publishing Inc; 1999. p. 281–304.

Note shortened form for last page number. e.g., 51–9, and that for more than 6 authors the first 6 should be listed followed by "et al." For further details you are referred to "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts submitted to Biomedical Journals" (J Am Med Assoc 1997;277:927–934) (see also http://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\_requirements.html).

#### Journal abbreviations source

Journal names should be abbreviated according to the List of Title Word Abbreviations.

#### Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

#### Research data

This journal encourages and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. If you are sharing data in one of these ways, you are encouraged to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the research data page.

#### Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the database linking page.

For supported data repositories a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect,

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e,g,, TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

#### Mendeley Data

This journal supports Mendeley Data, enabling you to deposit any research data (including raw and processed data, video, code, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods) associated with your manuscript in a free-to-use, open access repository. During the submission process, after uploading your manuscript, you will have the opportunity to upload your relevant datasets directly to *Mendeley Data*. The datasets will be listed and directly accessible to readers next to your published article online.

For more information, visit the Mendeley Data for journals page.

#### Data statement

To foster transparency, we encourage you to state the availability of your data in your submission. This may be a requirement of your funding body or institution. If your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post, you will have the opportunity to indicate why during the submission process, for example by stating that the research data is confidential. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the Data Statement page.

#### AFTER ACCEPTANCE

#### Online proof correction

To ensure a fast publication process of the article, we kindly ask authors to provide us with their proof corrections within two days. Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version, All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 5 Apr 2022

www.elsevier.com/locate/jomsmp

stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

#### Offprints

The corresponding author will, at no cost, receive a customized Share Link providing 50 days free access to the final published version of the article on ScienceDirect. The Share Link can be used for sharing the article via any communication channel, including email and social media. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is accepted for publication. Both corresponding and co-authors may order offprints at any time via Elsevier's Author Services. Corresponding authors who have published their article gold open access do not receive a Share Link as their final published version of the article is available open access on ScienceDirect and can be shared through the article DOI link.

#### AUTHOR INQUIRIES

Visit the Elsevier Support Center to find the answers you need. Here you will find everything from Frequently Asked Questions to ways to get in touch.

You can also check the status of your submitted article or find out when your accepted article will be published.

© Copyright 2018 Elsevier | https://www.elsevier.com

# ANEXO C - PARECER CONSUBSTANCIADO DO CEP



#### PARECER CONSUBSTANCIADO DO CEP

#### DADOS DO PROJETO DE PESQUISA

Título da Pesquisa: Levantamento das doenças bucais diagnosticadas pelo Laboratório de Patologia Bucal da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

Pesquisador: Elena Riet Correa Rivero Área Temática: Versão: 2 CAAE: 42095715.1.0000.0121 Instituição Proponente: Departamento de Patologia Patrocinador Principal: Financiamento Próprio

#### DADOS DO PARECER

Número do Parecer: 1.097.375 Data da Relatoria: 08/06/2015

#### Apresentação do Projeto:

Estudo de Rivero que pretende, sem TCLE, avaliar o resultado de cerca de 2500 biópsias do Departamento de Patologia Bucal da UFSC, coletados desde 2006 no registro prévio que é feito no relatório anual das atividades desenvolvidas no LPB.

#### Objetivo da Pesquisa:

Segundo os autores, o estudo tem como objetivo primário "conhecer a prevalência das lesões diagnosticadas pelo Laboratório de Patologia Bucal da UFSC (LPB-UFSC)", e como objetivo secundário "para as lesões mais prevalentes dentro da casuística do LPB será realizado o levantamento anual do arquivo de casos de forma periódica e sistematizada, determinando-se, para cada doença (ou grupo de doenças): • Determinação do perfil sócio-demográfico da população acometida; • Determinação do o perfil clínico dos pacientes acometidos; • Determinação das principais características clínicas das lesões; • Determinação dos fatores etiológicos; A apresentação desses dados também será feita de forma anual em eventos científicos (como o SEPEX-UFSC, a Reunião da Sociedade Brasileira de Estomatologia e Patologia Oral, entre outros) e sociais da área (como nas campanhas de prevenção e diagnóstico precoce das doenças da boca, promovidas pela entidade de classe da odontologia e da medicina)."

Endereço: Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina,	Prédio Reitoria II (Edifício Santa Clara), R: Desembargador Vitor Lima,
Bairro: Trindade	CEP: 88.040-400
UF: SC Município: FLORIANOPOLIS	
Telefone: (48)3721-6094	E-mail: cep.propesq@contato.ufsc.br

Página 01 de 03

# UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA - UFSC

Continuação do Parecer: 1.097.375

#### Avaliação dos Riscos e Benefícios:

Corrigido, adequado.

#### Comentários e Considerações sobre a Pesquisa:

Pode contribuir sobre o conhecimento generalizável sobre o tema. Os autores esclareceram que outros estudos já foram desenvolvidos na amostra.

#### Considerações sobre os Termos de apresentação obrigatória:

Pede dispensa de TCLE de acordo com os seguintes motivos:

1. Este é um projeto de interesse social que objetiva conhecer a prevalência das lesões diagnosticadas pelo Laboratório de Patologia Bucal da UFSC (LPB-UFSC), o qual é referência no Estado de Santa Catarina no diagnóstico de doenças da boca. O conhecimento com relação à incidência das doenças bucais no Estado de Santa Catarina irá possibilitar a elaboração de estratégias de prevenção por órgãos governamentais, assim como a elaboração de futuros estudos de pesquisa baseados nessa incidência; 2. Uma vez que o LPB iniciou suas atividades em 2006, alguns desses casos tem mais de 9 anos de diagnóstico. Devido a isso, existe a possibilidade de alguns pacientes já terem ido a óbito; 3. Até dezembro de 2014 havia mais de 2200 casos diagnosticados pelo LPB; 4. Os casos diagnosticados pelo LPB não provêm apenas da cidade de Florianópolis. Diversos casos são oriundos de outras regiões do Estado como Curitibanos, São José, Imbituba, Rio do Sul e Ibirama. 5. O levantamento dos casos diagnosticados será realizado a partir do registro prévio que é feito no relatório anual das atividades desenvolvidas no LPB. Esse registro é feito em planilha Excel no qual constam os dados presentes nas fichas de biópsia que chegam ao LPB (anexo 1): Dados do paciente (sexo, etnia, idade, profissão); Tipo de lesão (superficial, submucosa, subcutânea, intraóssea); Localização da lesão; Características clínicas da lesão; História clínica do caso; Outras informações (portador de prótese, fumo, álcool, linfadenopatia etc.); Diagnóstico clínico; Tipo de biopsia (incisional, excisional, curetagem, aspiração,

peça cirúrgica); Procedência. Nessa planilha também consta o diagnóstico histológico final, que é coletado a partir dos laudos (anexo 2). Ressaltamos que nesta planilha não consta nome ou qualquer registro (hospitalar ou próprio do LPB) que possibilite a identificação dos pacientes, sendo mantida, dessa forma, o anonimato dos mesmos.

#### Recomendações:

Sugerimos que novo projeto seja enviado, com TCLE, para inclusão prospectiva dos novos casos em estudos futuros.

Endereço: Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina	, Prédio Reitoria II (Edifício Santa Clara), R: Desembargador Vitor Lima
Bairro: Trindade	CEP: 88.040-400
UF: SC Município: FLORIANOPOLIS	
Telefone: (48)3721-6094	E-mail: cep.propesq@contato.ufsc.br

Página 02 de 03

# UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA - UFSC

Continuação do Parecer: 1.097.375

Conclusões ou Pendências e Lista de Inadequações: Pendencias resolvidas.

Situação do Parecer: Aprovado

Necessita Apreciação da CONEP: Não

Considerações Finais a critério do CEP:

FLORIANOPOLIS, 08 de Junho de 2015

Assinado por: Washington Portela de Souza (Coordenador) Plataforma